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Civil  False Claims Act: Supreme Court grants certiorari 
on Wartime Suspension of Limitations Act and first-to-file 
questions in KBR v. U.S. ex rel. Carter
Douglas W. Baruch, John T. Boese and Jennifer M. Wollenberg of Fried, Frank,  
Harris, Shriver & Jacobson discuss the U.S. Supreme Court’s decision to review a 
False Claims Act case involving the statute’s first-to-file bar and the application of 
the Wartime Suspension of Limitations Act.
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PATENT INFRINGEMENT

Federal government infringes patent on pilot helmet  
display system, suit says 
The holder of the patent on a specialized helmet-mounted system that allows pilots 
to see tactical information inside their visors is suing the U.S. government over the  
allegedly unauthorized use of the invention in the F-35 Joint Strike Fighter aircraft.

Thales Visionix Inc. v. United States of America, 
No. 1:14-cv-00513, complaint filed (Fed. Cl.  
June 16, 2014).

Thales Visionix Inc. alleges the F-35, which is 
supplied to the U.S. military by nonparty Lockheed 
Martin Corp., employs a helmet-mounted display 
system that infringes its patent.

The company says the government is using 
its invention without a license and must pay 
compensation for the allegedly unauthorized use.

The F-35 is the first fighter jet in the past 50 years 
to employ a helmet-mounted display system that 
projects information for the pilot directly onto a 
helmet visor rather than through the traditional 
“heads-up display” projected onto a transparent 
surface at the front of the cockpit, according to the 
complaint filed in the U.S. Court of Federal Claims.

A heads-up display system has disadvantages 
because it requires the pilot to look straight ahead 
at the display to read tactical information and 

REUTERS/Tom Reynolds/Lockheed Martin Corp/Handout

Thales Visionix Inc. alleges the U.S. military is using without 
permission its patented invention for a specialized helmet that lets 
pilots who fly the F-35A Lightning II Joint Strike Fighter see tactical 
information inside their helmets.  Here, two F-35s arrive for a training 
exercise at Edwards Air Force Base in California.
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COMMENTARY

Civil  False Claims Act: Supreme Court grants certiorari 
on Wartime Suspension of Limitations Act and first-to-file  
questions in KBR v. U.S. ex rel. Carter
By Douglas W. Baruch, Esq., John T. Boese, Esq., and Jennifer M. Wollenberg, Esq.  
Fried, Frank, Harris, Shriver & Jacobson

Last month, the Supreme Court granted 
certiorari in United States ex rel. Carter v. 
Kellogg Brown & Root Servs., Inc., 710 F.3d 
171 (4th Cir. 2013), cert. granted, No. 12-1497 
(U.S. July 1, 2014).  This action suggests that 
the Supreme Court may reverse the Fourth 
Circuit’s sweeping ruling that the Wartime 
Suspension of Limitations Act (“WSLA”) 
renders the False Claims Act’s (“FCA”) statute 
of limitations a virtual nullity.  It appears that 
the Supreme Court also agreed to review 
another Fourth Circuit decision in the same 

upon the WSLA to resurrect stale FCA claims 
in lawsuits having nothing to do with wartime 
contracting, including FCA actions involving 
financial services, healthcare, commodities, 
and even professional cycling.1  In fact, if the 
Fourth Circuit’s ruling is not overturned by 
the Supreme Court, nearly every industry that 
touches government funds in some way faces 
new practical concerns as the government 
and relators advocate for what could amount 
to an indefinite tolling of the FCA’s statute of 
limitations.  The Carter petitioners brought 
these important practical considerations to 
the Supreme Court’s attention:

The panel decision … has grave 
implications for potential defendants, 
by requiring them to defend against 
stale fraud claims years or even decades 
later, as memories fade and helpful 
evidence is lost.  It places intolerable 
burdens on companies, by requiring 
them to either retain documents 
indefinitely or risk discarding records 
that may only become relevant years 
later when an unforeseen fraud claim is 
filed.  The panel majority’s interpretation 
has fundamental implications for 
the government’s relationships with 
potential contractors.

Petition for Writ of Certiorari at 23-24, Carter, 
No. 12-1497 (U.S. June 24, 2013).

RECENT D.C. DISTRICT COURT WSLA 
DECISION DEMONSTRATES THAT 
THE ISSUE IS RIPE FOR SUPREME 
COURT REVIEW

In other articles and in litigation, we have 
described numerous arguments against 
application of the WSLA to the FCA, 
including the following: (1) the incongruity of 
applying a criminal code provision to the civil 
FCA; (2) due process concerns; (3) the lack 
of congressional intent to toll the statute of 
limitations outside of the wartime contracting 
context and for non-intervened cases, where 
there are no exigencies of war; and (4) the 

cases heard by the Supreme Court in the past 
nine years, the Solicitor General’s stance was 
not surprising.

THE IMPORTANCE OF THE WSLA 
ISSUE

The WSLA is a 72-year-old criminal code 
provision that suspends the statute of 
limitations for “any offense” that involves 
fraud against the government when the 
United States is “at war.” 18 U.S.C. §  3287.  

The 4th Circuit’s ruling that the Wartime Suspension  
of Limitations Act applies to the civil False Claims Act  

has wide-ranging implications.  

The Fourth Circuit’s ruling that the WSLA 
applies to the civil FCA has wide-ranging 
implications.  While, given the statute’s name 
and its textual references, one would expect 
the WSLA to apply only to defense contractors 
actively providing goods or services while the 
United States is at war, both the government 
and qui tam relators recently have seized 

case, one that significantly curtailed the 
application of the FCA’s first-to-file bar.

The Supreme Court’s decision comes in the 
wake of the Solicitor General’s attempt to 
dissuade the Court from addressing these 
important issues.  Given that Carter is a qui 
tam relator-driven action and that the relator 
has lost each of the non-intervened qui tam 
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Supreme Court’s recent description of the 
FCA’s ten-year statute of repose as “an 
absolute provision for repose,” Gabelli v. SEC, 
133 S. Ct. 1216, 1224 (2013).  One additional 
argument we previously advanced recently 
has gained traction.

We had pointed out that one reason why the 
WSLA should not apply to the current FCA  
is because, quite simply, the modern-day 
FCA is not the same type of fraud statute as 
the FCA was when the Supreme Court made 
its last pronouncements on the reach of the 
WSLA in the 1950s.  See, e.g., Defendant 
Wells Fargo Bank, N.A.’s Reply in Support 
of Its Motion to Dismiss the First Amended 
Complaint at 8-9, United States v. Wells 
Fargo Bank, N.A., No. 12 Civ. 7527 (JMF) 
(S.D.N.Y. Feb. 22, 2013).  The element of 
deceit was eliminated from the FCA in a 1986 
amendment explicitly providing that “no 

issue.  The Court therefore holds that 
the WSLA has not tolled the running 
of the FCA’s [statute of limitations] 
and that the WSLA does not apply to 
suspend any [statute of limitations] in 
this case.

United States ex rel. Landis v. Tailwind Sports 
Corp., No. 10-cv-00976 (RLW), 2014 U.S. 
Dist. LEXIS 83313, at *71 (D.D.C. June 19, 
2014).  In a footnote, the Landis court pointed 
out that the relator in that case heavily relied 
on Carter, but found this reliance misplaced 
because the Supreme Court’s “specific intent 
to defraud” requirement was not briefed on 
appeal nor was it discussed in the Fourth 
Circuit’s Carter opinion.  Landis, 2014 U.S. 
Dist. LEXIS 83313, at *71 n.27.  Although 
this district court decision does not create 
a circuit split, the timing of this ruling (by 
Circuit Judge Wilkins, sitting by designation 

The sheer number of related complaints filed 
and dismissed in the Carter case illustrates 
the magnitude of the problem that the 
Fourth Circuit’s temporal interpretation 
invites.  The Fourth Circuit’s ruling allowed 
the Carter relator to file a fifth amended 
complaint following the dismissal of four 
related qui tam actions — three actions 
brought by other relators in addition to a 
prior action brought by the Carter relator that 
barred his own fourth complaint.  Thus, the 
Fourth Circuit invited the Carter relator to add 
an eighth qui tam complaint to the series of 
related complaints that already notified the 
government of the alleged fraud.  Congress 
anticipated and sought to preclude this 
result when it enacted the first-to-file bar in 
1986 “to clarify … that private enforcement 
under the civil False Claims Act is not 
meant to produce class actions or multiple 
separate suits based on identical facts and 
circumstances.”  S. Rep. No. 99-345, at 25 
(1986).

The more natural reading of “pending 
action” is the referential one that the D.C. 
Circuit recently adopted in United States 
ex rel. Shea v. Cellco P’ship, 748 F.3d 338 (D.C. 
Cir. 2014) (“Verizon II”).  After finding the 
second action essentially indistinguishable 
from the first and therefore “a related 
action,” the D.C. Circuit interpreted “pending 
action” as shorthand for “first-filed action” 
to identify “which action bars the other,” and 
dismissed the second action, noting that  
“[t]he resolution of the first-filed action does 
not somehow put the government off notice 
of its contents.”  748 F.3d at 344.

Here, as was the case with the WSLA issue, 
a decision in a federal D.C. court likely made 
the Supreme Court’s decision to grant 
certiorari an easier one.

THE INCREASED IMPORTANCE OF 
THE FIRST-TO-FILE BAR GIVEN A 
WEAKENED PUBLIC DISCLOSURE BAR

Although this argument was not raised to 
the Supreme Court in the Carter certiorari 
petition, preventing erosion of the first-to-file 
bar is more critical than ever, given recent 
government attempts to exercise a “veto 
power” against defendants’ challenges to qui 
tam relators’ claims under the FCA’s public 
disclosure bar.  These government veto 
attempts are based on a 2010 amendment 
that arguably changed the jurisdictional 
nature of the public disclosure bar, which 
now provides the following:

If the 4th Circuit’s ruling is not overturned by the Supreme 
Court, nearly every industry that touches government funds in 

some way faces new practical concerns.

proof of specific intent to defraud is required.”  
Pub. L. No. 99-562, §2(b), 100 Stat. 3153 
(1986).  Instead, the FCA now includes 
expanded definitions for “knowing” and 
“knowingly” that allow for an FCA violation 
with the lesser intent standards of “reckless 
disregard” and “deliberate ignorance.”  Since 
the Supreme Court ruled sixty years ago 
that the WSLA is limited to offenses “which 
include fraud as an essential ingredient,” 
meaning that they include “the element of 
deceit that is the earmark of fraud,” United 
States v. Grainger, 346 U.S. 235, 243 (1953), 
the WSLA should not apply to FCA claims 
after the 1986 amendments because proof of 
fraud is no longer required as an “essential 
element” of a civil FCA action.

In a decision released just days before the 
Supreme Court’s June 26 conference, the 
United States District Court for the District 
of Columbia adopted this reasoning for its 
holding that the WSLA does not apply to FCA 
claims:

[I]t is clear in this Circuit that civil FCA 
actions under the modern version of the 
[FCA] do not require proof of fraud as an 
“essential element,”…[a]nd the Relator 
has not contended that proof of specific 
intent to defraud is required for the FCA 
claims or any of the other claims at 

in the D.C. District Court) may have played a 
role in the Supreme Court’s recognition that 
the issue is ripe for review.

THE FIRST-TO-FILE ISSUE

The FCA’s “first-to-file” bar specifies that 
“[w]hen a person brings an [FCA action], 
no person other than the Government may 
intervene or bring a related action based 
on the facts underlying the pending action.”   
31 U.S.C. §  3730(b)(5).  One purpose of 
this bar, the text of which has remained 
unchanged since its inclusion in the 1986 
amendments, is to prevent multiple qui tam 
suits based on the same underlying conduct.

In Carter, the Fourth Circuit recognized that 
several earlier-filed related complaints 
were pending when the Carter relator filed 
his claims, but ruled that the relator’s 
claims essentially were revived when the 
earlier complaints were dismissed.  This 
ruling depends on a purely temporal 
interpretation of the term “pending action”—
an interpretation that certainly encourages 
relators to file qui tam suits and rewards 
them for doing so, but ignores the bar’s 
important purpose of preventing multiple, 
duplicative qui tam suits that provide no new 
information to the government.
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The court shall dismiss an action or 
claim under this section unless opposed 
by the Government, if substantially 
the same allegations or transactions 
as alleged in the action or claim were 
publicly disclosed.

31 U.S.C. § 3730(e)(4)(A) (emphasis supplied).

Where applicable, this amendment 
empowers the government unilaterally to 
decide that a qui tam suit may proceed, 
regardless of whether the allegations were 
publicly disclosed.  Theoretically, even purely 
parasitic qui tam suits brought by a relator 
who would not qualify as an original source 
could proceed under this amendment.  
Exacerbating defendants’ concerns is the fact 
that there has been no provision of standards 
or procedures for the government’s exercise 
of its veto power, making it impossible for 
defendants to predict whether or when it  
will be used in a given qui tam case.

To date, the government has attempted 
to exercise this veto power in at least three 
cases.  See United States ex rel. Szymoniak v. 
American Home Mortgage Servicing, Inc., 
No. 0:10-cv-01465-JFA, 2014 WL 1910845 
(D.S.C. May 12, 2014); United States ex 
rel. Baker v. Community Health Sys., Inc., 
No. 05-279 WJ/ACT (D. N. Mex.) (unpublished 
ruling); Notice of the United States of Its 
Opposition to Dismissal on the Basis of the 
Public Disclosure Bar, Mazza v. Miami-Dade 
Cty, No. 1:10-cv-24546-HOEVELER (S.D. 
Fla. June 6, 2014).  In view of this recent 
trend, a temporal interpretation of “pending 
action” in the first-to-file bar that imposes  
an unpredictable standard will leave 
defendants more vulnerable than ever to 
multiple qui tam suits, including those 
alleging purely parasitic claims.  WJ

NOTES
1 See, e.g., United States ex rel. Landis v. Tailwind 
Sports Corp., No. 10-cv-00976 (RLW), 2014 U.S. 
Dist. LEXIS 83313 (D.D.C. June 19, 2014);  Hericks v. 
Lincare Inc., No. 07-cv-387, 2014 WL 1225660 (E.D. 
Pa. Mar. 25, 2014);  United States ex rel. Bergman v. 
Abbot Labs., No. 09-4264, 2014 WL 348583 (E.D. 
Pa. Jan. 30, 2014);  United States v. Wells Fargo 
Bank, N.A., 972 F. Supp. 2d 593 (S.D.N.Y. 2013);  
United States ex rel. Emanuele v. Medicor Assocs., 
No. 10-245 Erie, 2013 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 104650 
(W.D. Pa. July 26, 2013);  United States ex rel. 
Paulos v. Stryker Corp., No. 11-0041CV-W-ODS, 
2013 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 82294 (W.D. Mo. June 12, 
2013);  United States v. BNP Paribas SA, 884 F. 
Supp. 2d 589 (S.D. Tex. 2012).  Readers should 
note that the authors’ firm represents one of the 
defendants in the Wells Fargo case.

TRADE SECRETS

U.S. Marines contractor stole trade secrets, 
suit says
An amphibious tank manufacturer for the U.S. Marine Corps stole trade secrets 
from a subcontractor and gave them to the subcontractor’s competitors,  
according to a Massachusetts federal court lawsuit.

Infinity Fluids Corp. v. General Dynamics 
Land Systems Inc., No. 14-CV-40089, 
complaint filed (D. Mass. June 30, 2014).

The complaint, filed in the U.S. District Court 
for the District of Massachusetts by Infinity 
Fluids Corp., accuses General Dynamics 
Land Systems of acting like it was going to 
do business with Infinity only to steal its trade 
secrets.

The case concerns a contract the Marines 
awarded to GDLS in 2001 to develop and 
engineer an advanced amphibious assault 
vehicle, a buoyant armored tank capable of 
being launched into the sea from a ship.

According to the complaint, GDLS was 
having problems getting the vehicle to start 
in cold weather during testing.  It identified 
Infinity as a company capable of solving its 
heating problem.  

Infinity, which designs and manufactures 
electric heating systems, told GDLS that it 
could adjust its heater designs to operate 
within the vehicle and handle the Marines’ 
specifications, the suit says.

Infinity and GDLS entered into a proprietary 
data agreement in 2008 to share confidential 
information and trade secrets, according to 
the complaint.  The agreement included a 
provision saying GDLS would not provide 
Infinity’s proprietary information to a third 
party, the suit says.

GDLS issued purchase orders for Infinity’s 
heating systems and asked for samples for 
testing, the suit says.  After GDLS inspected 
and tested the systems, it terminated the 
agreement and refused to pay for Infinity’s 

work, designs, parts and engineering, the 
complaint claims.

GDLS allegedly provided Infinity’s trade 
secrets and proprietary information to larger 
manufacturers that make more cost-effective 
heating systems to design a different system 
for the vehicle, the complaint says.

Infinity’s competitors are now using the 
information and profiting from its work, the 
suit says.

Infinity is seeking damages, attorney fees, 
litigation costs and interest for claims of 
breach of contract, unjust enrichment, 
misappropriation and misuse of trade secret 
information, unfair competition, negligent 
misrepresentation, and fraud and deceit.  WJ

Attorneys:
Plaintiff: Catherine I. Rajwani and Scott E. Regan, 
Harbor Law Group, Northborough, Mass.

Related Court Document:
Complaint: 2014 WL 3573115

See Document Section B  (P. 20) for the 
complaint.

REUTERS/Mike Blake

Amphibious tank manufacturer General Dynamics Land Systems 
is accused of stealing trade secrets from a subcontractor.  A 
speakers’ podium at a media event held at the company’s 
NASSCO ship building affiliate in San Diego is shown here.
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FALSE CLAIMS ACT

U.S. joins false-claims suit against software company
The United States has joined a lawsuit alleging Symantec Corp. did not give the General Services Administration  
the correct pricing information on computer software products.

United States ex rel. Morsell v. Symantec Corp., No. 1:12-CV-00800, 
intervention announced (D.D.C. July 22, 2014).

The Justice Department said in a statement that the U.S. government 
has intervened in a suit filed in 2012 by Lori Morsell, a Symantec 
employee who alleges the California-based company violated the False 
Claims Act while supplying software under a federal contract.

The FCA, 31 U.S.C. § 3729, is the government’s primary tool for fighting 
procurement fraud.  The statute allows private parties who suspect 
fraud has occurred to sue on behalf of the government and receive a 
portion of any recovery. 

The suit pending in the U.S. District Court for the District of Columbia 
alleges Symantec defrauded the government while holding a Multiple 
Award Schedule contract.

The General Services Administration’s MAS program streamlines 
procurement for federal agencies by allowing them to order commonly 
used products and services from approved vendors.

Contractors that participate in the MAS program must give the 
government complete and accurate information about the prices 
charged to commercial customers so the United States can ensure it 
obtains the same or better pricing.

Participating contractors also must maintain a price list with the GSA 
and notify it of any changes to pricing discounts.

Morsell alleges that while negotiating for and performing under a MAS 
contract awarded in 2007, Symantec knowingly gave the government 
inaccurate information about the prices offered to its commercial 
software customers.

The General Services Administration’s  
MAS program streamlines procurement  

for federal agencies by allowing them  
to order commonly used products and 

services from approved vendors.

From the General Services Administration 
acquisition aanual

Price reductions 

Before award of a contract, the contracting officer and the offeror 
will agree upon (1)  the customer (or category of customers) 
which will be the basis of award, and (2)  the government’s 
price or discount relationship to the identified customer (or 
category of customers).  This relationship shall be maintained 
throughout the contract period.  Any change in the contractor’s 
commercial pricing or discount arrangement applicable to the 
identified customer (or category of customers) which disturbs 
this relationship shall constitute a price reduction. 

During the contract period, the contractor shall report to 
the contracting officer all price reductions to the customer 
(or category of customers) that was the basis of award.  The 
contractor’s report shall include an explanation of the conditions 
under which the reductions were made. 

The GSA used Symantec’s pricing information to negotiate discounts 
for federal agencies, and the false data caused the United States to 
pay more for software products than it should have under the contract, 
according to the suit.  

Symantec submitted false claims for contract payments as a result of 
the inaccurate pricing information and in doing so violated the FCA, 
Morsell alleges.  

The alleged fraud took place until the MAS contract, which involved 
hundreds of millions of dollars, ended in 2012, according to the suit.

“When the United States spends taxpayer dollars based on contractors’ 
representations about their business practices, we expect to be given 
complete and accurate information,” Assistant Attorney General Stuart 
Delery of the Justice Department’s Civil Division, said in a statement.

After the government filed its notice of intervention in the District Court, 
U.S. District Judge Rudolph Contreras gave the United States 60 days 
to file its own complaint against Symantec, according to court records.

As of press time, the government has not filed a complaint.  WJ

Attorneys:
Plaintiff (Morsell):  Christopher Bowmar Mead, London & Mead, Washington

Plaintiff (United States):  Brian P. Hudak, U.S. Attorney’s Office, Washington

Related Court Document:
Complaint: 2012 WL 11316469

See Document Section C (P. 30) for the complaint.
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FALSE CLAIMS ACT

Relocation services contractor settles inflated-invoice claims  
for $500,000
A Virginia company that provides relocation services for federal personnel has agreed to pay more than $500,000 to 
settle allegations that it submitted inflated and bogus invoices to the government in violation of the False Claims Act.

United States ex rel. Michael Angel v. 
Franconia Real Estate Services Inc.,  
No. 1:12-cv-00764, settlement announced 
(E.D. Va., Alexandria Div. July 8, 2014).

Franconia Real Estate Services Inc., doing 
business as RE/MAX Allegiance Relocation 
Services, did not admit any wrongdoing 
in paying the settlement, the Justice 
Department said in a statement.

The payment ends a whistleblower lawsuit 
filed in 2012 in the U.S. District Court for the 
Eastern District of Virginia by RARS’ former 
Chief Operating Officer Michael Angel.  He 
alleged the company’s  claims for payment 
under government contracts violated the 
False Claims Act, 31 U.S.C. § 3729.

The FCA is the government’s primary tool for 
fighting procurement fraud. 

RARS provided management services to 
the U.S. Department of Homeland Security, 
U.S. Customs and Border Protection, the 

Department of Agriculture and various 
other agencies related to the transportation 
of personal property belonging to federal 
employees who were relocating to work sites 
internationally and within the United States, 
according to the Justice Department. 

Angel alleged that RARS knowingly charged 
the government at least $100,000 for move 
management services that were never 
provided and routinely inflated tariff fees 
on invoices from at least 2008 until January 
2011.

He further alleged RARS used low-cost 
vendors and tapped its internal division for 
transportation services instead of using 
certain designated carriers as required under 
its contracts.  The company then invoiced 

for amounts greater than the actual costs 
it incurred and gave government inspectors 
documents showing only the higher figures 
and not the true invoices from the companies 
that performed the work.

REUTERS/Hyungwon Kang REUTERS/Rebecca Cook

RARS provided management services to various federal agencies, including the Department of Homeland Security and the U.S. Customs 
and Border Protection.  A former company executive said the firm routinely charged the government for services that were never provided 
and inflated fees on invoices.

“Government contractors 
who seek to profit at the 
expense of taxpayers will  

be held accountable,” 
Justice Department official 

Stuart F. Delery said.

Angel said he raised concerns with manage-
ment about the allegedly fraudulent practices 
on several occasions, but the company failed 
to take any steps to rectify the problem or 
repay the overcharged amounts.  

Under the FCA, whistleblowers are entitled to 
initiate a lawsuit on behalf of the government 
and share in any recovery obtained.  Angel’s 
share of the settlement will be about $87,000, 
according to the Justice Department.

“Today’s settlement demonstrates our 
continuing vigilance to ensure that those 
doing business with the government do so 
legally and honestly and that taxpayer funds 
are not misused,” Stuart F. Delery, assistant 
attorney general for the Justice Department’s 
Civil Division, said in a statement.  WJ

Related Court Document:
Complaint: 2012 WL 11073016
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FALSE CLAIMS ACT

$8 million ‘finder’s fee’ warranted,  
whistleblowers tell 8th Circuit
Two whistleblowers have asked a federal appeals court to stand by a ruling  
that they are entitled to nearly one-sixth of the government’s $48 million  
settlement of a False Claims Act case against Cisco Systems Inc.

United States ex rel. Rille et al. v. 
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP et al.,  
No. 11-3514, response to petition for reh’g 
filed (8th Cir. June 23, 2014).

A panel of 8th U.S. Circuit Court of Appeals 
ruled in April that an $8.1 million “finder’s fee” 
must go to Norman Rille and Neal Roberts 
because they were the original source of 
information concerning the software maker’s 
purported kickback scheme.  

In a 2-1 decision, the panel rejected the 
government’s contention that the men did 
not deserve a cut of the deal because they did 
not assert the actual claim that was settled 
by federal prosecutors.  United States ex rel. 
Rille et al. v. PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP  
et al., No. 11-3514, 2014 WL 1386953 (8th Cir. 
Apr. 10, 2014).

The government has petitioned the 8th 
Circuit to reconsider its ruling, but Rille and 
Roberts say in their response brief that review 
is not warranted because no “questions of 
exceptional importance” were raised in the 
petition.

According to the 8th Circuit’s April opinion, 
Rille and Roberts filed several qui tam actions 
on behalf of the United States alleging 
Cisco and other software manufacturers 
paid kickbacks to systems integration 
consultants in exchange for recommending 
their products to the government.  Those 

The government’s petition does not establish  
that a “remotely similar factual setting has  

arisen or will arise again,” the whistleblowers said,  
defending their award of $8 million in the case.

transactions violated the False Claims Act,  
31 U.S.C. § 3729, and the Anti-Kickback Act, 
41 U.S.C. § 51, they said.

The government intervened in the case in 
2008 and adopted the complaint.  When 
the government settled the case for  

motion to dismiss and awarded the men a  
17 percent cut of the settlement.

The 8th Circuit majority backed this decision, 
ruling the men deserved a finder’s fee 
because they were the “catalyst” leading to 
the government’s settlement 

$48 million two years later, the deal focused 
on a defective-pricing scheme between 
Cisco and its global distributor, Comstor, 
according to the opinion.  The settlement 
was conditioned on the dismissal of the 
complaint against the other defendants, 
according to the government’s brief. 

The government did not include Rille and 
Roberts in the settlement because it said it 
uncovered the alleged Cisco–Comstor fraud 
during a routine audit and not as a result of 
information it had received from the men, the 
opinion says.  

Following the settlement, Rille and Roberts 
brought a motion to recover their statutory 
share of the proceeds in the U.S. District 
Court for the Eastern District of Arkansas.  
The District Court denied the government’s 

According to the government’s petition for 
rehearing by the full court, the majority’s 
decision poses significant harm to the 
government because it encourages 
“opportunistic behavior on the part of future 
[plaintiffs] … with vague, or no, information 
about a particular fraud.”

Rille and Roberts said in their June 23 
response that the government’s petition 
does not establish that a “remotely similar 
factual setting has arisen or will arise again.”

The government also fails to explain how 
or why the pleaded claims differ from the 
settled ones, according to the response.     WJ

Related Court Documents:
Petition for rehearing: 2014 WL 2930668 
Response: 2014 WL 2930669
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AFFIRMATIVE ACTION

U.S. sues Entergy for not reporting affirmative action compliance
(Reuters) – The U.S. Department of Justice sued Entergy Corp., accusing the utility owner and power producer of  
refusing to show that it complies with rules governing affirmative action, a requirement for federal contractors.

United States v. Entergy Corp. et al.,  
No. 14-CV-01644, complaint filed (E.D. La. 
July 17, 2014).

According to a complaint filed in U.S. 
District Court in New Orleans, Entergy has 
since May 2012 refused repeated requests 
from the Labor Department to submit 
its written affirmative action programs 
and related records in connection with a 
routine compliance review of 11 properties in 
Louisiana, Mississippi and Texas.

The Justice Department said Entergy, as 
a federal contractor, cannot discriminate 
against employees and job applicants  
on the basis of race, color, sex, religion, 
national origin, disability or protected 
veteran status.

It estimated that Entergy Corp. earns more  
than $1 billion in taxpayer-funded contracts  

to provide services to the federal government.

It estimated that Entergy earns more than 
$1 billion in taxpayer-funded contracts to 
provide services to the government.

Michael Burns, an Entergy spokesman, said 
the New Orleans-based company does not 
discuss pending litigation.

Entergy’s failure to make the disclosures 
“undermines the public trust that taxpayers 
expect in ensuring that public funding is 
used in a manner that complies with both 
federal law and agency regulations,” Jocelyn 
Samuels, acting assistant attorney general 
for the Justice Department’s Civil Rights Unit, 
said in a statement.

The lawsuit seeks a permanent injunction 
requiring Entergy to turn over required materials.

Entergy said it employs roughly 14,000 
people, has electric-power businesses in 
Arkansas, Louisiana, Mississippi and Texas, 
and operates six nuclear power plants.    WJ

(Reporting by Jonathan Stempel in New York; 
editing by Lisa Shumaker)
Related Court Document:
Complaint: 2014 WL 3593521

CARGO SCREENING

TSA’s denial of cargo security request needs more detail,  
D.C. Circuit says
The Transportation Security Administration must explain more fully why it refused to allow cargo carrier Amerijet Interna-
tional Inc. to modify some security procedures at certain foreign airports, a federal appeals court in Washington has ruled.

Amerijet International Inc. v. Pistole,  
Nos. 13-1176, 13-1317 and 14-1008, 2014 WL 
2619839 (D.C. Cir. June 13, 2014).

Until the agency does so, the District of 
Columbia U.S. Circuit Court of Appeals panel 
said, it cannot decide whether the denial of 
Amerijet’s requests violated its constitutional 
equal-protection rights.

Amerijet transports cargo from various 
overseas airports to the United States and 
is required to comply with TSA security 
directives.  According to the opinion, TSA 
issued a security directive in 2011 in response 
to an October 2010 incident in which 
terrorists attempted to hide explosives in 
cargo headed for the United States.  The 
directive requires stricter security procedures 
for certain categories of cargo.

In 2012 Amerijet sought permission from the 
TSA to use alternative security procedures.  
The opinion did not name any of the foreign 
airports or give any details about the cargo 
or the specific security procedures involved.

The TSA denied the request in a May 2013 
letter.  Later that August, Amerijet asked 
for approval of three other alternative 
procedures, which the TSA denied in large 
part in a January 2014 letter.

Amerijet then filed petitions for review with 
the D.C. Circuit, asserting a claim for denial 
of its right to equal protection.  According to 
Amerijet, the TSA has granted competitors 
similar exemptions.

The court sent the matter back to the TSA 
for a better explanation of the May 2013 and 
January 2014 denials.

The May letter merely summed up the rules 
from which Amerijet sought exemptions, the 
court found.

That letter had “all the explanatory power 
of the reply of Bartleby the Scrivener to his 
employer: ‘I would prefer not to,’” the court 
said, adding that the January letter contained 
“programmatic boilerplate.”

”We are not in a position to assess Amerijet’s 
equal-protection claim because … we have 
no meaningful basis upon which to evaluate 
TSA’s denials of Amerijet’s requests,” the 
court concluded.  WJ

Related Court Document:
Opinion: 2014 WL 2619839
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ARMS SALES

U.S. signs agreement for $11 billion arms sale to Qatar
(Reuters) – The United States signed an agreement with Qatar July 14 to sell the Gulf Arab ally Apache attack  
helicopters and Patriot and Javelin air-defense systems valued at $11 billion.

“Today’s signing ceremony underscores the strong partnership 
between the United States and Qatar in the area of security and 
defense and will help improve our bilateral cooperation across a range 
of military operations,” Pentagon spokesman Rear Admiral John Kirby 
said in a statement.

The agreement was signed at the Pentagon by U.S. Defense Secretary 
Chuck Hagel and Qatar’s defense minister, Hamad bin Ali al-Attiyah.

It was the biggest U.S. arms sale so far this year, according to media 
reports.

Hagel visited Qatar in December when he and al-Attiyah signed a 
10-year defense cooperation agreement to govern interaction between 
U.S. and Qatari forces and enable the continued assignment of 

American troops to installations in the area, including the Combined 
Air Operations Center at Al Udeid Air Base. 

”This is a critically important relationship in the region,” Kirby said.  
“And the secretary is pleased to be able to continue to make it stronger.”

Qatar is holding for a year five Taliban prisoners released from the 
U.S. military prison at Guantanamo Bay, Cuba, in exchange for U.S. 
Sergeant Bowe Bergdahl, who had been held captive in Afghanistan.    
WJ

(Reporting by Peter Cooney; editing by Jonathan Oatis)

REUTERS/Erik De Castro REUTERS/Issei Kato

The U.S. agreed to sell Apache attack helicopters (shown left) and Patriot Advanced Capability-3 land-to-air missiles (shown right) to Qatar in a deal valued at $11 billion.
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MISSILE DEFENSE PROGRAM

Pentagon weighing options  
for missile defense 
(Reuters) – The U.S. Defense Department hopes to fund a much more reli-
able kill vehicle, or warhead, for the homeland missile defense system run by 
Boeing Co., but final decisions will depend largely on cost, the Pentagon’s top 
arms buyer said July 13.

“It’s going at the end of the day to be 
a question of affordability,” Defense 
Undersecretary Frank Kendall told reporters 
on the eve of the Farnborough airshow.

Kendall said decisions had not been finalized 
on whether to upgrade the existing kill 
vehicles, built by Raytheon Co., or start from 
scratch with a new design.

Kendall said he supported testing the initial 
common kill vehicle that is in place on  
20 of 30 kill vehicles, as well as more  
regular testing of such systems in general to 
shore up confidence in the system.

“Right now we’re moving in the direction  
of a much more reliable kill vehicle, but how 
far we’re going to go in that direction, ... and 
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intelligence.

A successful June 22 missile defense test  
was encouraging and would help shore up the program,  

a Defense Department official said.

Raytheon, Lockheed Martin Corp. and 
Boeing have all expressed interest in bidding 
for a new kill vehicle.

The U.S. military on June 22 carried out its 
first successful test since 2008 of the new 
kill vehicle that is used on 10 of 30 ground-
based interceptors that have already been 
deployed.  Twenty other interceptors carry 
an earlier version, which failed in an intercept 
test one a year ago.

Kendall said the successful test marked 
“a very positive step that will us to move 
forward.”  He also praised the technical 
expertise of Vice Admiral James Syring, 
who heads the Pentagon’s Missile Defense 
Agency.

the exact form that’s going to take, isn’t final 
yet,” he said.

Kendall said a successful June 22 missile 
defense test was encouraging and would 
help shore up the program.

Boeing, the prime contractor for the program, 
said there was a lot of activity going on about 
how to move forward with a new kill vehicle, 
and the prime contract for managing the 
Ground-based Midcourse Defense system, 
but it was not clear when a new deal could 
be signed.    WJ

(Reporting by Andrea Shalal; editing by Steve 
Orlofsky)

Several companies, including Raytheon and Boeing have expressed interest in bidding for a new kill vehicle for the Defense Department.
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GAO REPORTS

Defense Department looks to inventory software licenses
The Defense Department’s plan for developing and compiling a department-wide inventory of software licenses meets 
statutory requirements, the Government Accountability Office said in a report July 8.  

“DOD has laid the appropriate groundwork 
to analyze software license data,” but “the 
implementation of the plan will be the most 
challenging part of this effort,” the GAO 
cautioned.

The Defense Department plans to spend at 
least $31 billion on information technology, 
including software licenses, in fiscal year 
2014, the GAO noted.  

“Effective management of software licenses 
can help organizations avoid purchasing 
too many licenses that result in unused 
software and/or too few licenses that result 
in noncompliance with license terms, which 
can lead to additional fees,” the GAO added.

Section 937 of the Fiscal Year 2013 National 
Defense Authorization Act, Pub. L. No. 112- 
239, required the Defense Department 
to develop a plan for a department-wide 
inventory of software licenses.  The agency 
issued the plan July 18, 2013.  Section 937(a)
(3) required that the report describe:

•	 The	 software	 licenses	 included	 in	 the	
inventory and summarize licenses not 
selected.

•	 How	 the	 Defense	 Department	 will	
compare purchased and installed 
licenses.

•	 How	 the	 Defense	 Department	 will	
assess its license needs for the next two 
fiscal years,

•	 How	 the	 Defense	 Department	 can	
achieve the greatest cost savings and 
economies of scale.

The Defense Department’s plan contains 
detailed information on the scope’s 
inventory, including listing over 900 software 

The plan includes key data fields necessary for the Defense 
Department’s chief information officer to compare purchased 

software licenses with installed licenses.

titles.  Software publishers selected for 
inclusion are “generally consistent with those 
that key agencies have also told us, as part 
of our work on federal software licensing, 
are being most widely used,” the GAO 
said.   The agency has previously reported 
that the Office of Management and Budget 
and most agencies do not have adequate 
policies for managing software licenses.   
The Defense Department’s plan also states 
that “some classified software, contractor-
owned software, and handheld devices  
such as tablets and phones should not be 

comparing software licenses purchased and 
installed, comparing software needs with 
excess licenses, and assessing alternative 
licensing options, the GAO reported, 
suggesting that the analyses could help 
Defense Department to obtain volume 
discounts, move toward enterprise-wide 
solutions and dispose of excess licenses.  The 
GAO noted that Defense Department cannot 
yet collect data on license usage.  That is, 
the Defense Department can compare the 
number of licenses purchased with the 
number installed, but it cannot compare the 

included ... because they are not commercial 
off-the-shelf software products and/or 
widely used across the department.”

The plan includes key data fields necessary 
for the Defense Department’s chief 
information officer to compare purchased 
software licenses with installed licenses 
to assess the department’s future needs, 
the GAO found.  The CIO expects to collect 
limited cost data because, although data 
on the numbers of licenses are required, 
cost data are to be entered only if readily 
available.  Nonetheless, using the data to 
forecast future needs may “allow DOD to 
take advantage of economies of scale while 
negotiating future licensing agreements.”

The Defense Department licensing-inventory 
plan outlines key analyses that the CIO 
and component CIOs plan to perform after 
the inventory is complete.  These include 

amount of time a license was actively used 
over a given period.

In August 2013 the Defense Department 
inspector general reported that Navy 
licensing contracts and end-user license 
agreements contained unacceptable 
language or were silent on many best-
practice areas, and the Department of the 
Treasury IG for tax administration found that 
the Internal Revenue Service did not have 
policies to track software assets and licenses 
or an accurate license inventory. 

The GAO report “Software Licenses: DOD’s 
Plan to Collect Inventory Data Meets 
Statutory Requirements (GAO-14-625)” is 
available at gao.gov/assets/670/664663.
pdf.  

This article was originally published in the 
Government Contractor, 56 GC 227.     WJ
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NEWS IN BRIEF

MISSOURI FIRM WINS $36 MILLION 
AIRCRAFT TRAINING FACILITY JOB

The Defense Department said in a July 21 
statement that the Navy has chosen Korte 
Construction Co. to design and build a 
training facility for P-8A aircraft at Naval Air 
Station Whidbey Island in Washington.  The 
company, which does business as the Korte 
Co., will construct a two-story building with 
room for eight flight trainers and six weapons 
trainers under the $36 million contract.  The 
facility will also hold associated support 
network and communications equipment, 
classrooms and administrative spaces.  Korte 
Construction beat out 22 other bidders for 
the job, which is scheduled for completion in 
January 2016, the statement said.

AIR FORCE PICKS NORTHROP 
GRUMMAN FOR $300 MILLION 
WEATHER CONTRACT

Northrop Grumman Systems Corp. has won 
a $300 million contract to provide services 
to the Air Force Weather Agency, which 
disseminates real-time weather information 
to the military, government agencies and 
allied nations.  The Defense Department 
said in a July 18 statement that the company, 
which does business as Northrop Grumman 
Information Systems, would work primarily 
at the weather agency’s headquarters 
at Offutt Air Force Base in Nebraska and 
handle systems engineering and program 
management tasks until July 31, 2019.  The 
Virginia-based company was the only bidder 
for the contract.

6 FIRMS WIN CONSTRUCTION 
CONTRACTS FOR WORK IN HAWAII

The Navy has awarded construction contracts 
to Insight Pacific LLC, Bethel-Webcor JV-1, 
Dawson-Hawaiian Builders I, JSR-ECC LLC, 
CT JV and Environet Inc. for upcoming work 
in Hawaii.  The Defense Department said in a 
July 17 statement that under the contracts the 
companies will receive task orders to perform 
demolition, repairs and new construction 
projects at facilities used by the Navy, Marine 
Corps, Air Force and federal agencies.  The 
contracts have a one-year term and give 
the Navy the option to extend the jobs for 
four additional one-year periods.  The Navy 
has allotted a total of $240 million for all 
five years.  The winning firms were chosen 
out of a pool of 22 bidders, the Defense 
Department said.

target and fire at enemy planes, the suit says.  
A helmet-mounted display, in contrast, does 
not require the pilot to look at a fixed point to 
see information and will allow targeting and 
firing in directions other than straight ahead.

TVI, a subsidiary of Thales Defense & Security 
Inc., says its system offers unprecedented 
real-time situational awareness for the pilot 
and is closely synched with head movement.  
Even the smallest latency between helmet 
rotation and the presentation of visual data 
could result in nausea or pilot disorientation, 
the suit says.

The company says its patent describes the 
use of two inertial tracking sensors attached 
to the helmet and aircraft, which allows the 
system to determine the orientation of the 
helmet with respect to the moving frame of 
reference inherent to an aircraft in flight.  

Helmet display system
CONTINUED FROM PAGE 1

The F-35 is the first fighter jet in the past 50 years to employ a 
helmet-mounted display system that projects information for 

the pilot directly onto a helmet visor, the suit says.

from nonparty Rockwell Collins ESA Vision 
Systems LLC, a joint venture of Rockwell 
Collins and Elbit Systems of America LLC. 

The HMDS for the F-35 allegedly uses 
two inertial sensors, one mounted on the 
helmet supplied by Vision Systems and the 

other mounted on the aircraft.  TVI says 
Lockheed installs the Visions Systems HMDS 
in the F-35 and then delivers this “combined 
system” to the government.

TVI is seeking a judgment that the 
government is infringing the patent by using 
its invention without permission.

The company is requesting “recovery of its 
reasonable and entire compensation” for 
such use in an amount to be determined at 
trial, plus interest and costs.

As of press time, the government has not 
filed a response to the suit.  WJ

Attorney:
Plaintiff: Anthony Shaw, Arent Fox LLP, 
Washington

Related Court Document: 
Complaint: 2014 WL 3509203

See Document section A (P. 15) for the complaint.

Patent infringement by government contractors

28 U.S.C. § 1498 provides a remedy for patent infringement by contractors working under 
a government contract.  The statute waives governmental immunity and allows suit to be 
filed against the United States in the U.S. Court of Federal Claims.  The contractor does not 
have liability.

28 U.S.C. § 1498 provides that when an invention described in and covered by a patent of 
the United States is used or manufactured by or for the United States without license of the 
owner thereof or lawful right to use or manufacture the same, the owner’s sole remedy shall 
be by action against the United States in the U.S. Court of Federal Claims for the recovery of 
reasonable and entire compensation for such use and manufacture.

 For the purposes of this section, the use or manufacture of an invention described in and 
covered by a patent of the United States by a contractor ... for the government and with the 
authorization or consent of the government, shall be construed as use or manufacture for 
the United States.

TVI claims Lockheed, as prime contractor 
for the F-35, obtains the relevant parts 
for the HMDS that is used in the planes 
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